

LSU BOARD OF SUPERVISORS EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING

Training Room, LSU Foundation 3796 Nicholson Drive, Baton Rouge, LA 70802 September 4, 2025 | 1:30 p.m. CT

- I. Call to Order and Roll Call
- II. Public Comment
- III. Request to Amend the Rules of the Board of Supervisors Regarding Search Committees
- IV. Request to Amend Articles I and II of the Board of Supervisors Regulations Relative to University Laboratory School Faculty
- V. Adjournment



Request to Amend the Rules of the Board of Supervisors Regarding Search Committees

Date: September 5, 2025

1. Bylaw/Regulation Citation

Pursuant to Article XI, Section 2, of the Rules and Regulations of the Board of Supervisors:

These Regulations, except as they include provisions specifically covered by the Statutes of the State of Louisiana and the Bylaws of this Board, may be amended by receiving an affirmative vote of a majority of the Supervisors after receiving recommendations of the appropriate committee of the Board.

2. Summary of Matter

At the October 10, 2024 meeting, the Board of Supervisors amended the Bylaws to add the following sentence to Article V, Section 7:

The chair shall be made aware of any search committees for new hires and may appoint members to the committees.

This proposal will amend the Rules of the Board of Supervisors to serve as an interpretation of Article V, Section 7 of the Bylaws, by adding a provision to Article III of the Board of Supervisors Rules, as follows:

Section 3. Consistent with Article V, Section 7 of the Bylaws, the chair may appoint a member or members to search committees for a University Officer, or for any position that reports to the President, a Chancellor or the Board of Supervisors.

3. Review of Business Plan

Not applicable.

4. Fiscal Impact

Not applicable.

5. Description of Competitive Process

Not applicable.

6. Review of Legal Documents

The Office of General Counsel drafted the proposed revision to the Rules of the Board of Supervisors.

7. Parties of Interest

LSU faculty and staff

8. Related Transactions

Not applicable.

9. Conflicts of Interest

None known.

10. Attachments

None.

RESOLUTION

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Supervisors of Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College does hereby amend the Rules of the Board of Supervisors to add Article III, Section 3 as provided herein.



Request to Amend Articles I and II of the Board of Supervisors Regulations Relative to University Laboratory School Faculty

Date: September 5, 2025

1. Bylaw/Regulation Citation

Pursuant to Article XI, Section 2, of the Board of Supervisors Rules and Regulations:

These Regulations, except as they include provisions specifically covered by the Statutes of the State of Louisiana and the Bylaws of this Board, may be amended by receiving an affirmative vote of a majority of the Supervisors after receiving recommendations of the appropriate committee of the Board.

2. Summary of Matter

This proposal will amend the Board of Supervisors Regulations relative to the University Laboratory School ("ULS") faculty. Currently, the K-12 instructors at ULS fall within the definition of "other academic employees" within the LSU system. This definition does not accurately reflect the distinction between postsecondary instructors and ULS faculty.

The proposed amendments create a separate category of academic employee entitled "University Laboratory School Instructor." This new category of academic employee will apply to all members of the academic staff at ULS, including all teachers and teaching associates.

The purpose of the change is to allow ULS administration to address classroom and instructional deficiencies with more flexibility. Under the current regulations, any ULS instructor who has served one year or more is entitled to a lengthy notice of non-renewal before employment can be terminated. This is an infrequent problem, but when it occurs, it prolongs a negative experience for the students and encumbers the position until the non-renewal period expires and employment can be separated.

Under the proposed amendments, ULS Instructors will be subject to removal without cause with 30 days' written notice. This is not intended as punitive but instead is intended to allow ULS to address problems in a manner that best serves the students in a K-12 environment and grants ULS the ability to quickly replace instructors who are not meeting academic or other expectations.

A summary of the specific revisions is as follows:

Article I, Section 2(B):

Clarifies that the campus faculty consists of academic staff serving postsecondary students; removes ULS Instructors from the membership of the campus faculty and participation in the Faculty Council Article II, Section 1(A)(1)(c): Adds a category of academic employee entitled

"University Laboratory School Instructor" which will

include all ULS going forward

Article II, Section 6: Adds "University Laboratory School Instructor" and

"University Laboratory School Teaching Associate" as recognized academic ranks within the LSU system

Article II, Section 7: Excludes ULS Instructors from the non-renewal

notification requirements applicable to

postsecondary academic employees

3. Review of Business Plan

Not applicable.

4. Fiscal Impact

Not applicable.

5. Description of Competitive Process

Not applicable.

6. Review of Legal Documents

The Office of General Counsel drafted the proposed revisions to Articles I and II of the Board of Supervisors Rules and Regulations.

7. Parties of Interest

University Laboratory School faculty

8. Related Transactions

Not applicable.

9. Conflicts of Interest

None known.

10. Attachments

Proposed revisions to Articles I and II of the Board of Supervisors Rules and Regulations.

RESOLUTION

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Supervisors of Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College does hereby amend Articles I and II of the Board of Supervisors Regulations to reflect the revision attached hereto.

REGULATIONS OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

ARTICLE I. ACADEMIC AND ADMINISTRATIVE ORGANIZATION

Section 1. Order of Communications and Reports

The official recommendations and communications of any member of the academic or nonacademic staff shall be sent through channels to the appropriate officer. An administrative officer shall, when so requested, promptly transmit any such recommendations or communications, with the officer's own comments and recommendations thereon, to the next higher office.

Section 2. Academic Organizational Units

A. The Faculty of the University

The faculty of the University shall consist of the faculties of the several campuses as defined below (Section: 2(B)). The President and the academic officers of the University shall be members of the University faculty and the former shall be its highest officer.

- B. The Faculties of the Several Campuses
 - 1. **Membership.** Full-time members of the academic staff serving postsecondary students and having the rank of Instructor or higher (or equivalent ranks[‡]) shall constitute the faculty of the campus on which they are appointed. The faculty may organize itself into a Faculty Council which shall include all full-time members of the faculty and members of the Administrative Council (see sSection: 1–3(A).1). As a class, part-time members of the academic staff having the rank of Instructor or higher (or equivalent ranks) may be enfranchised to the degree deemed appropriate by the faculties of the several campuses. Members of the Administrative Council, not holding academic rank, shall be non-voting members of the Faculty Council. ULS Instructors do not hold membership in this group.
 - 2. Duties. The faculty or Faculty Council² shall establish curricula, fix standards of instruction, determine requirements for degrees, and generally determine educational policy, subject to the authority of the Board. Except as otherwise provided, each faculty shall establish its own educational policies. It shall, within the framework of the educational policy of the University, have legislative power over all matters pertaining to its own meetings and may delegate its own authority to an elected Senate and/or to standing committees, whose

²The terms "faculty" and "Faculty Council" are used interchangeably in this Section (2).

¹See Section 2-6.

- authority shall be limited to matters which are proper to the faculty and which have been specifically delegated by the faculty. It shall make recommendations for the granting of degrees through its respective colleges or schools not within a college.
- 3. Actions. Any action of a faculty or Faculty Council which, in the judgment of the Chancellor, or of the President, is administrative or which seriously affects the interests of another faculty of the University or of the University itself, may be suspended by the President and such action shall be reported to the Board at its next meeting. All questions of jurisdiction among colleges, schools not within colleges, or divisions shall be determined by the Chancellor, or, for LSU or in inter-campus situations, by the President.
 - a. Minutes of all actions taken by the faculties or Faculty Councils, together with appropriate recommendations of the major administrative officer concerned, shall be reported to the President. The President may then refer any such action on academic matters of general University concern to the appropriate council, or a committee thereof, for consideration.
- 4. **Meetings.** Each faculty or Faculty Council shall meet at least once each academic year at the call of the President as chair or of the Chancellor of the campus or, for LSU, the President's designee, as vice-chair, or upon the written request of 50 members or 20 percent of the membership, whichever is the smaller number. At least five days notice of meeting shall be given. It shall be the prerogative of the President to preside; otherwise, the Chancellor of the campus or, for LSU, the President's designee, will preside.
- 5. **Quorum.** Not less than 25 percent of the membership of the faculty or Faculty Council shall be necessary to constitute a quorum, provided, however, that any faculty or Faculty Council (at a meeting at which a quorum of 25 percent of the members is present) may, by majority vote, establish a higher percentage of the membership as a quorum for future meetings.

C. The Faculties of Colleges and Schools

- 1. Membership. The faculty of each college or school not within a college, except the Graduate School, shall consist of all members of the academic staff having the rank of Instructor or higher (or equivalent rank) who are appointed full-time and a part of or all of whose current work is in that particular college or school. As a class, part-time members of the academic staff having the rank of Instructor or higher (or equivalent rank) may be enfranchised to the degree deemed appropriate by the faculty of the college.
- Duties. The faculty of each college or school not within a college shall define and recommend
 degree programs for units under its jurisdiction. The faculty shall recommend candidates for
 degrees to be awarded by the college or school not within a college.
- 3. **Meetings.** The dean of each college and the dean or director of each school not within a college shall call a faculty meeting when it seems advisable to do so, provided there be at least one meeting during each semester and summer term. The dean or director shall be required to call a faculty meeting upon the written request of one-fourth of the members of the faculty. At the time the faculty members are notified of a meeting, the Chancellor of the campus or, for LSU, the President and the chief academic officer shall receive the same notification.
- 4. **Quorum.** Not less than 25 percent of the membership of the faculty of a college or school not within a college shall be necessary to constitute a quorum, provided, however, that such faculty (at a meeting at which a quorum of 25 percent of the members of such faculty is

present) may, by majority vote, establish a higher percentage of the membership as a quorum for future meetings.

D. The Departmental Faculty³

- 1. **Membership.** The departmental faculty shall consist of all members of the academic staff of a department having the rank of Instructor or higher (or equivalent rank) who are appointed full-time for at least a one-year period and a part or all of whose work for the current year is in that particular department. As a class, part-time members of the academic staff having the rank of Instructor or higher (or equivalent rank) may be enfranchised to the degree deemed appropriate by the faculty of the department.
- 2. **Duties.** The departmental faculty shall have jurisdiction over matters concerning its educational policies insofar as these do not conflict with the policies of other departments, the rules and regulations of its own college or school, the campus, or the University.
 - **3. Meetings.** The Chair or head of the department shall call a meeting of the departmental faculty when it seems advisable to do so.

E. The Graduate Faculty

1. **University Graduate Division Faculty.** The Graduate Faculty of the University shall consist of the graduate faculties of the several campuses. Election to the graduate faculty of one campus shall automatically mean election to the University Graduate Division Faculty.

The principal officer of the Graduate Faculty of the University shall be the chief academic officer of the University, who shall preside over the Executive Graduate Council (Section 2(G).1-2.6) as its chair.

- 2. **Individual Campus Graduate Faculty**. The Graduate Faculty on each campus shall consist of those members of the teaching, research, and extension faculties who have been so designated by the Chancellor upon the recommendation of the Graduate Council (Section 2(H): 1-2.7) acting upon appropriate nominations. Such designation shall provide for classification of the Graduate Faculty as members or associate members according to their qualifications and experience.
- 3. **Voting Powers.** Voting power at faculty meetings is vested in the members on matters of educational policy, and in the members and associate members in recommending candidates for degrees.

F. Council of Chief Academic Officers

The Council shall consist of the chief academic officer of the University, who shall serve as chair, and the chief academic officer of each major subdivision of the University. The Council shall act

³Including faculties of schools within colleges.

in an advisory capacity to the President in matters relating to academic standards, programs, and policies of the University.

G. The Executive Graduate Council

There shall be an Executive Graduate Council of the University Graduate Division. It shall consist of:

- 1. The chief academic officer of the University, who shall serve as chair.
- 2. The chief graduate officer for each campus.
- 3. An appointed member of the graduate faculty from each campus of the University offering resident graduate work. These appointees shall be recommended to the President for appointment by the Chancellor of each campus or, for LSU, the President's designee after consultation with the chair of the Executive Graduate Council, in order to avoid a concentration of representation from any general subject area.
- 4. A single member, representing those campuses not offering graduate work, appointed by the President.
- 5. A single member-at-large of the Graduate faculty to be appointed from any campus of the University by the President.

The member-at-large shall be appointed for two years and the members from individual campuses shall be appointed for staggered terms of three years.

The Executive Graduate Council shall coordinate all graduate work and approve new programs and degrees recommended by the several chancellors and their graduate councils for transmittal to the President for review before presentation to the Board.

H. The Campus Graduate Council

- 1. **Establishment.** Each campus offering graduate work shall have a Graduate Council, which shall advise the Dean of the Graduate School in the administration of the academic affairs and policies of the Graduate School. Each campus shall formulate a policy regarding the operation of the Graduate Council, including membership, length of terms, and functions.
- 2. **Approval**. Each campus shall submit its policy and any subsequent amendments concerning the Graduate Council to the President for review and approval. Until such campus policies are approved, the existing provisions shall control.

Section 3. Administrative Units

A. The Administrative Council

- 1. **Membership.** The Administrative Council shall be composed of the principal administrative officers of a campus (as designated by the Chancellors or, for LSU, the President); three members of the faculty of tenured rank elected annually for one-year terms by the faculty or a delegated body thereof; and such other persons as may be specifically designated by the Chancellor or, for LSU, the President.
- 2. **Duties.** The Administrative Council shall advise the Chancellor or, for LSU, the President in the administration of the affairs of that campus.

- 3. **Officers.** The Chancellor or, for LSU, the President or his designee shall be the chair of the Administrative Council on his campus, and shall appoint a secretary who shall keep minutes of all meetings and shall maintain a roll of the members of the Administrative Council.
- 4. **Time of Meeting.** The Administrative Council of each campus shall meet at the call of the Chancellor or, for LSU, the President or his designee. The President may, at his discretion, call upon and preside over any or all of the Administrative Councils of the University to advise him concerning the affairs of the University.

B. Council of Academic Deans and Directors

The deans and directors of colleges, or of schools not within colleges, together with other academic officers of equivalent rank, responsible to the chief academic officer, shall constitute the Council of Academic Deans and Directors of a campus, and shall meet at the call of the chief academic officer as chair. The Council shall advise the chief academic officer in the administration of the academic affairs of the campus.

C. The Athletic Council

- 1. Establishment. There shall be established an Athletic Council on campuses having organized athletic programs and participation in inter-collegiate competition. Each campus shall formulate a policy regarding the operation of the Athletic Council. This policy shall address membership, terms of office, voting and bylaws, and functions of the Council. This policy shall be in compliance with the rules and regulations of the appropriate athletic oversight organization.
- **2. Approval**. Each campus shall submit its policy concerning the Athletic Council to the President for review and approval as well as any subsequent amendments to this policy.

ARTICLE II. APPOINTMENTS, PROMOTIONS, AND TENURE

Section 1. Classification of Employees, General

Employees of the University are grouped as follows:

A. Nonstudent Employees

1. Academic Employees

- a. <u>University</u> Faculty. Full-time members of the academic staff on the various campuses with the rank of Instructor or above and equivalent ranks.
- b. **Other Academic.** Part-time members of the academic staff; members of the academic staff below the rank of Instructor or equivalent; and other personnel with academic responsibilities not holding faculty rank.
- c. University Laboratory School Instructor ("ULS Instructor"). Members of the academic staff at University Laboratory School ("ULS") whose primary responsibility is instruction of Kindergarten through Grade 12 students. This includes ULS academic staff holding the title "Teaching Associate." Appointments, reappointments, and performance evaluations for ULS Instructors are governed by ULS policies as approved by LSU A&M.

2. Nonacademic Employees

a. Unclassified

- i. Administrative officers and professional staff, and positions specifically exempt from the classified service under Article X of the **Constitution** of the State of Louisiana.
- ii. Other positions exempt from the classified service by special action of the State of Louisiana, Department of Civil Service.
- b. **Classified**. All employees in positions covered by the provisions of the Civil Service System of the State of Louisiana.

B. Student Employees

- 1. **Graduate Assistants.** Full-time graduate students who are employed part-time for services supportive of the graduate education experience.
- 2. **Students.** Those half-time undergraduate, graduate, and professional students who are employed on a part-time basis on the various campuses of the University and not classified as graduate assistants.
- 3. **Interns, Residents.** These and other such students employed in programs designed to fulfill professional and specialty requirements.

Section 2. Personnel Actions

The President shall establish a Personnel Action Approval Policy which shall establish the requirements for approval of all personnel actions except those reserved for Board approval under the LSU Board of Supervisors Bylaws.

Section 3. Terms of Employment, Nonacademic Staff

A. Classified Personnel

Classified personnel hold their positions according to the terms of their appointment under the provisions of the Civil Service System of Louisiana and the classified procedures of the University.

B. Unclassified Employees

Unclassified employees hold their positions at the pleasure of the Board. Services of unclassified employees may be terminated by giving such employees reasonable notice with the approval of the Chancellor of the campus or, for LSU, the President or his designee. "Reasonable notice" shall be interpreted to mean written notice given at the time the action is instituted by the employee's immediate supervisor and effective after a period of time equivalent in days to the usual payroll period of the employee.

Section 4. Personnel Actions, Academic Staff

In all personnel actions related to academic staff the principle of academic freedom shall be recognized. See the LSU Board of Supervisors Bylaws.

All personnel actions relating to faculty and other members of the academic staff shall be initiated in accordance with the Personnel Action Approval Policy. Actions shall be taken after appropriate consultation with the faculty.

Section 5. Personnel Actions Requiring Board Approval

Except as otherwise provided in the Bylaws, and notwithstanding any other provisions of these *Regulations*, all personnel actions made by any campus or institution of the University shall be made in accordance with the following provisions and the Personnel Action Approval Policy established by the President.

A. Personnel Actions Requiring Board Approval

The following personnel actions shall require approval by the Board of Supervisors:

- 1. Appointments and all other personnel actions relating to the President, Head Coaches and Athletic Directors.
- 2. Appointments and all other personnel actions relating to Coaches other than Head Coaches with a salary of \$250,000 or above.
- 3. Appointments, salary increases greater than 15%, salary decreases, and terminations for Chancellors and for University Officers.
- 4. Upon approval by the President of a Personnel Action Approval Policy, and in conformance with such policy, the President shall have authority to approve all other actions and to delegate approval to the chancellors or their designees.

5. Except as specifically provided in the Personnel Action Approval Policy established by the President, Board approval is not required for personnel actions which are governed by the laws and rules promulgated by the Department of State Civil Service affecting the Classified Service.

B. Personnel Actions Not Requiring Board Approval

- 1. Approval of other personnel actions shall follow the Personnel Action Approval Policy established by the President.
- Authority to take all other personnel actions is hereby delegated by the Board to the President, who may further delegate such authority, under the Personnel Action Approval Policy, as he deems to be in the best interests of the University.

C. Reporting

Quarterly reports will be developed and provided to the Board providing necessary information required to fulfill the Board's fiduciary and oversight responsibilities.

D. Submission of Actions for Approval by the Board or President

Any submission for approval by the Board or President shall be made in accordance with the deadlines established in the LSU Board of Supervisors Bylaws. All such submissions shall include the following information:

- 1. All sources of compensation;
- 2. The nature of the appointment;
- 3. All proposed letters of employment, contracts of employment, or other written employment agreements pertaining to compensation or benefits; and
- 4. Any additional information required by the President.

E. Miscellaneous

- 1. For purposes of this policy and the Personnel Action Approval Policy, "compensation" includes all income covered on any check issued (or electronic transmittal) by the University for any compensation purposes as well as all income from other sources, including affiliated foundations, paid as compensation for work done on behalf of the University or pursuant to the employment agreement with the University. This includes any income paid pursuant to any faculty group practice plan or program. It does not include royalty, licensing, or other payments made pursuant to the University's intellectual property policies.
- 2. Nothing herein shall be construed to alter, amend, or in any way affect PM-11 or the policies and procedures set forth therein, which are required by La. R.S. 42:1123(9)(b).
- 3. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Section 2-5.1 and any other provisions of the *Regulations* of the Board of Supervisors or any Permanent Memorandum, the provisions of this Section 2-5 shall control.
- 4. Nothing herein creates any rights, procedural or substantive, in employees, prospective employees, or other persons.

Section 6. Academic Ranks

The following academic ranks shall be recognized.

Instructional and Research Ranks-full-time (1,2,4)	Instructional and Research Ranks - Part-time(5)	Library/Museum(1 0) Ranks - Full-time	Cooperative Extension Service	AgCenter Communications
Boyd Professor Designated Professorships(3) Professor	Professor, part- time(6) Adjunct Professor(7) Consulting Professor(8)	Librarian Curator	Professor	Communications Specialist (12)
Associate Professor	Associate Professor, Part-time(6) Adjunct Associate Professor(7)	Associate Librarian Associate Curator	Associate Professor Agent (4)	Associate Communications Specialist (12)
Assistant Professor	Assistant Professor, Part-time(6) Adjunct Assistant Professor(7)	Assistant Librarian Assistant Curator	Assistant Professor Associate Agent (4)	Assistant Communications Specialist (12)
Instructor	Instructor, Part-time(6)	General Librarian	Instructor Assistant Agent (4)	
Associate	Associate, Part-time(6)	Library Associate	Extension Associate	
Assistant	Assistant, Part-time(6)			
ULS Instructor(13)	Cooperating Teacher(9)			
	Special Lecturer(5)			

FOOTNOTES:

- (1) The titles "Visiting Professor," "Visiting Associate Professor," and "Visiting Assistant Professor" are courtesy titles given to holders of visiting full-time appointments at those respective ranks. No changes shall be made in the titles of regular members of the instructional and research staff holding part-time appointments during the summer term. The "Visiting" title may also be used for individuals who are not on leave from another institution but who meet the standards for the rank specified and who are hired for a limited period.
- (2) The full-time faculty shall consist of the full-time University faculty and the members of the full-time staff at affiliated hospitals who have academic responsibilities equivalent to the full-time University faculty. The full-time affiliated faculty who are gratis or whose University contribution to salary is less than 25 percent shall be considered as volunteer faculty to the University insofar as employee benefits are concerned. However, if the University contributes 25 percent or more of their total salary, percentage of University contribution should be indicated and employee benefits appropriate to that percentage provided. Full-time faculty in the professions whose primary responsibility is in teaching or service programs associated with coordinating fieldwork and supervising students in the field are to be appointed as Assistant Professor-Professional Practice, Associate Professor-Professional Practice, or Professor-Professional Practice. Full-time affiliated faculty do not acquire tenure.
- (3) The title of Professor may be modified to indicate particular distinction as approved by the Board in special instances.
- (4) Full-time faculty whose primary responsibility is conducting research and who normally are paid from grant or contract funds are to be appointed as Assistant Professor-Research, Associate Professor-Research, or Professor-Research or Assistant Professor-Extension, Associate Professor-Extension. Full-time faculty in the clinical sciences with responsibility to teaching and service programs and who are essential for patient care are to be appointed as Assistant Professor of Clinical (discipline), Associate Professor of Clinical (discipline), or Professor of Clinical (discipline), Extension field faculty employed primarily to conduct educational programs are appointed as Assistant Agent, Associate Agent, and Agent. The faculty in these ranks do not acquire tenure.

Full-time faculty in the professions whose primary responsibility is in teaching or service programs associated with coordinating field work and supervising students in the field are to be appointed as Assistance Professor-Professional Practice, Associate Professor-Professional Practice, or Professor-Professional Practice.

(5) Part-time academic personnel in the Medical Center whose primary role is related to a clinical setting may be designated by the title "Clinical" preceding their academic rank, except department heads, who may be given their appropriate professorial rank without the designation "Clinical".

Part-time academic personnel in the Law Center whose primary role is related to a clinical setting in any internship program or other clinical or skills instructional program which has been or may be established by the Law Center may be designated by the title Adjunct Clinical Instructor, Part-time.

- (6) The title 'Special Lecturer' is authorized and limited to part-time appointments without rank designation and is restricted to specialists and professional men and women whose primary occupation is practice of their profession.
- (7) The designation "part-time" indicates that the appointee is to serve less than 100 percent basis.

- (8) On the recommendation of appropriate campus officers, the ranks of Adjunct Professor, Adjunct Associate Processor, etc., may be conferred upon persons whose primary employment is outside the department. The basis of such recommendation shall be that the University can benefit from the talents, abilities, and experience of persons in various fields as consultants; for the conduct of formal courses, occasional lectures, or seminars; or for other similar activities. Recommendations for such appointments shall be made in the same manner as for other academic ranks. Individuals appointed as Adjunct Professors, Adjunct Associate Professors, or Adjunct Assistant Professors, are ineligible to participate in the University Retirement System or other University-funded employee benefits accorded other academic employees of the University.
- (9) A person of exceptional distinction who performs the services of an Adjunct Professor may be designated a Consulting Professor.
- (10) The title of Cooperating Teacher is used for off-campus public school teachers who supervise teachers in the teacher training program.
- (11) The titles of 'Curator', 'Associate Curator' and 'Assistant Curator' are authorized and limited to those individuals holding full-time appointments on the museum staff. The ranks of Curator, Associate Curator and Assistant Curator shall be equivalent to those of Professor, Associate Professor and Assistant Professor, respectively. The rules and rights of appointment, promotion and tenure shall be the same as for the professorial ranks.
- (12) The titles of Assistant Communications Specialist, Associate Communications Specialist and Communications Specialist are non-tenure track titles for LSU AgCenter Communications Department faculty who perform professional level research, education, and outreach responsibilities which are an integral part of the research and outreach programs of the LSU AgCenter.
- (13) Used for K-12 instructors and teaching associates at the University Laboratory School

Section 7. Tenured and Term Appointment, Academic Staff

Faculty Ranks. Faculty members and other members of the academic staff of comparable rank, including librarians, may be appointed for a specific term ("term appointment") or indefinitely ("tenured appointment") depending on rank and experience.

A term appointment is are for a specified periods of time as indicated on the appointment form. Appointment or tenure on one campus of the University carries no implication of appointment or tenure on another campus. Academic employees are tenured only with respect to their academic ranks and not with respect to administrative titles or assignments.

A tTenured appointment is not a guarantee of lifetime employment, particularly in the face of institutional change or financial exigency. It does assure that the employee will not be dismissed without adequate justification and without due process.

<u>ULS Instructors are appointed on an academic year basis but are subject to removal without cause with 30 days written notice.</u>

Term employees are appointed for specified periods of time as indicated on the appointment form.

Professors and Associate Professors are tenured and are appointed for an indefinite period of time, except that the initial appointment and subsequent reappointments through not more than five years of total service to the University campus involved may be made for a stipulated term. Persons promoted to the rank of Professor or Associate Professor after less than five years of service on the campus may be continued to term appointment through no more than the fifth year. Persons holding a professorial rank (Professor, Associate Professor or Assistant Professor) while being paid by a grant or contract do not acquire tenure through the passage of time but may become tenured only by specific individual recommendation through appropriate channels and approval by the President.

Assistant Professors are appointed for terms no longer than three years. Upon reappointment after seven years of service in rank on a particular campus, Assistant Professors receive tenure. A thorough review will be made during the sixth year of service so that notice of termination may be given if necessary no later than the end of the sixth year of service. Individual campuses have the option of conducting the thorough review prior to the sixth year, provided that appropriate written notification is given to the faculty member. The University may, at its discretion, count prior service on the same campus toward the seven-year evaluation period for an Assistant Professor to achieve indeterminate tenure. The ultimate decision shall be left with the President, to be applied in each individual case for which the respective campus recommends granting indeterminate tenure counting prior service favorably.

Those who rank as Associate or Instructor shall be appointed for a specified term and shall not be considered for indeterminate tenure; provided, however, Associates and Instructors hired for an initial term greater than two years may be terminated at the end of the first year if given notice during the first nine months of that year. Otherwise, the <u>notice</u> provisions of Section 2-7(1) (4)below shall apply.

The rules pertaining to tenure and term appointments are subject to the following exceptions:

- 1. At the Pennington Biomedical Research Center, persons holding the rank of Professor, Associate Professor and Assistant Professor, while being paid by a grant or contract, do not acquire tenure through the passage of time. Upon individual recommendation and approval by the President, such persons at the rank of Professor and Associate Professor may receive rolling tenure, i.e., they may be appointed for terms of 5 years. Faculty with rolling tenure are reviewed annually and reappointments of Associate Professor and of Professor faculty are for 5-year terms. At such annual review, a recommendation not to reappoint the Associate Professor or Professor is with a 5-year terminal appointment. The faculty member will be notified of a decision not to renew the appointment at least 5 years before the end of the appointment. Faculty members with rolling tenure or on terminal appointments may be terminated for cause at any time with due process.
- 2. At the Paul M. Hebert Law Center, the rank of Associate Professor may or may not carry with it the status of tenure, depending upon the timing and circumstances of the individual appointment. Individuals receiving an initial three-year appointment as Assistant Professor will be reviewed in their third year for a second three-year appointment for promotion to Associate Professor without tenure. No later than their sixth year, they will be considered for tenure and for promotion to Professor of Law. Typically, successful candidates will both be tenured and promoted to Professor of Law, although there may be cases in which tenure will be granted but the promotion to Professor of Law deferred for later determination. In such cases, they will hold the rank of Associate Professor of Law (with tenure), pending subsequent procedures addressing their promotion to Professor of Law.

3. At those campuses employing full-time faculty members in the professions (e.g. Education) whose primary responsibility is in teaching or service programs associated with coordinating fieldwork and supervising students in the field, the ranks of Assistant Professor-Professional Practice, Associate Professor-Professional Practice or Professor-Professional Practice may be designated. Individuals with these academic ranks shall not be eligible for tenure and may be enfranchised to the degree deemed appropriate by the faculty unit (system, campus, college, division or department).

Expiration of Appointment. Upon expiration of a term appointment, the employee is a free agent to whom the University has no obligation. The University may reappoint the employee to the same or a different position. Non-reappointment carries no implication whatsoever as to the quality of the employee's work, conduct, or professional competence.

Other than an Associate or ULS Instructor, wWhen an employee_, other than an Associate, is not to be reappointed, written notice to the employee will ordinarily be provided in accordance with the following schedule:

- 1. Not later than March 1 of the first academic year of service, if the appointment expires at the end of the year; or, if an initial one-year appointment terminates during an academic year, at least three months in advance of its termination.
- 2. Not later than December 15 of the second academic year of service, if the appointment expires at the end of that year; or if an initial two-year appointment terminates during the academic year, at least six months in advance of its termination.
- 3. At least 12 months before the expiration of an appointment after two or more years of service on that campus.

4. When an Associate is not reappointed, the Associate shall be given written notice of termination no less than ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of the employment contract.

Section 8. Terms of Employment - Part-Time Academic Staff

Members of the part-time academic staff on the various campuses shall be given term appointments only, not exceeding one academic or fiscal year.

Section 9. Terms of Employment - Academic Staff, General

The foregoing provisions shall not be construed to exclude existing contracts between the University and academic staff on mutually acceptable terms.

Section 10. Basis of Pay

University employees may be employees for the academic year, fiscal year, summer term, or other stipulated terms. Employees shall be paid in accordance with procedures established for their employment.

Section 11. Regular Appointment

An employee on "regular appointment" or one deemed to be "regular" is defined as (1) an employee whose appointment is for a period of more than 180 calendar days, or (2) one who has been employed for more than 180 consecutive calendar days by successive uninterrupted appointment.

Section 12. Holding of Political Office

A full-time employee of the University shall not accept any appointive political office nor seek or hold any elective remunerative political office, without the consent of the President.

Section 13. Nepotism.

- A. No member of the immediate family of an agency head shall be employed by that agency.
 - "Immediate family" as the term relates to a public employee means children, the spouses of the children, brothers, sisters, parents, spouse, and the parents of the spouse.
 - "Agency" means a department, office, division, agency, commission, board, committee, or other organizational unit of a government entity.
 - "Agency head" means the chief executive or administrative officer of any agency as defined above or any member of a board or commission who exercises supervision over the agency.
- B. The provisions of this policy shall not prohibit the continued employment of any public employee nor shall it be construed to hinder, alter, or in any way affect normal promotional advancements for such public employee where a member of the public employee's immediate family becomes the agency head of such public employee's agency, provided that such public employee has been employed in the agency for a period of at least one year prior to the member of the public employee's immediate family becoming the agency head.
- C. Any person serving as a University employee on April 1, 1980, whose employment otherwise would have been in violation of this policy, may continue in such employment and the provisions of this section shall not be construed to hinder, alter, or in any way affect normal promotional advancement in public employment for such employees.
- D. This policy shall apply to all forms of employment; regular full-time employment, regular part-time employment, temporary full-time employment, temporary part-time employment, etc., and will apply to all employees, including student workers.
- E. Exceptions to the restrictions outlined in this policy are not permitted. However, employees of an agency who marry may continue to work in that agency even though one of the employees is the agency head, provided that the supervising spouse avoids participating in transactions in which the subordinate spouse has a substantial economic interest.
- F. Individual campuses may adopt more restrictive provisions to this policy provided that those provisions are approved by the President.

Section 14. Boyd Professorships

A. Eligibility

A faculty member on one of the various campuses of the University who has attained national, or as appropriate, international distinction for outstanding teaching, research, or other creative achievement may be designated a "Boyd Professor." The "Boyd Professorship" shall be regarded as the highest professorial rank awarded by the University. No Professor holding an administrative position of the rank of dean or above shall be eligible for designation as a "Boyd Professor."

B. Procedure for Nomination

Nomination of a Professor for designation as a "Boyd Professor" shall originate with a dean or deans (in the case of split appointments) or a director of a school, which is not a college, in which a nominee holds professorial status. The nomination shall be addressed to a review committee through the Chancellor of the campus on which the nominee is a faculty member or, for faculty members of LSU, through the President or his or her designee. The nomination by deans or directors shall be reviewed by a committee comprised of the chief academic officer of the University, who shall serve as chair, two emeriti Boyd Professors, and three current Boyd Professors appointed by the President from throughout the University.